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PREFACE
My reason for investigating "Yallambie" was twofold.

"Yallambie" may be a very small aspect of Melbourne's

hidden historical past but it does have its place. It was

an estate which had been in our midst for so long and yet

it was little known. It was fascinating to correlate

fragmentary facts about people, places and dates and find them

slowly linking like a jig—saw to give almost the entire

picture. I say "almost" because unfortunately there are

things I could not find out but this I leave for a future

researcher to establish from the basis of this thesis.

Family remembrances as well as documentary facts are inter—

woven to give as much information and the widest scope for

comprehension as possible.

The second reason was an interest in something that the

Historical and Trust Societies would not consider for classifi—

cation or investigation. With many other perhaps more essential

needs it may not be surprising but how many places linked with

history sink into obscurity because of alterations at some

later date or simply because of neglect?

This thesis is concerned with presenting a piece of land

since its original land grant, to the homestead until and after

its alteration in 1923 and leave it to the reader to judge its

worthiness of being recorded.
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EXTRACT OF LAND TITLE

(as examined at the titles Office, Queen Str. Melbourne)

LAND PURCHASE

Grantee: Thomas Wills

Date   : 31st January 1839

County : Bourke

Acres  : 970

Whereas at a Public Auction held in conformity with the Regula—

tions made for the sale of Crown Lands in our Territory of N.S.W.

Thomas Wills of Varroville has become the purchaser of the land

hereinafter described for the sum of £1,067 Sterling by the said

Thomas Wills.

Acres be the same more or less situated in the County of Bourke

and Parish of Keelbundora position of No.8 and bounded on the

south by the section line forming the north boundary of portion

No.6 containing nine hundred and twenty acres and part of the

north boundary of portion No.7 containing seven hundred and

eighty acres bearing west one hundred and twenty acres, bearing

west, one hundred and twenty chains, on the west by a section

line forming the east boundary of portion No.9 bearing north

eighty chains, on the north by the section line forming the

south boundary of portion No.17 containing, nine hundred and

ninety five acres bearing east one hundred and twenty eight

chains and on the east by Yarra rivulet. Being the land sold

as lot 18 on Pursuance of the advertisement 29th May 1838...

Given under the Hand of Sir George Gipps Knight our Captain—

General and Governor in Chief of our said Territory and Its

Dependencies at Government House Sydney in New South Wales

aforesaid this thirty—first day of January in the second year

of our Reign and in the year of Our Lord One thousand eight

hundred and thirty nine.

                L.S. (signed) G. Geo. Gipps

Signed and sealed in the presence of: HY Watson Parker

Entered on record by in the Register Purchases of land No.49

Page 125 this twelfth day of March 1839

....... Thomson

Colonial Secretary and Registrar.

CHAPTER I


The ownership of land had always been one of the principal

motives of new free immigrants since early settlement began in

Australia. Originally all the land required by a convict centered
 colony surrounded the growing township of Sydney, then as this

became scarce, as more settlers arrived, and the colony grew,

the Blue Mountains barrier had to be crossed; the land over these

mountains was then taken up, primarily for sheep grazing. Huge

properties, thousands of acres, spread across the land leaving

very little for the waves of new settlers continuing to arrive

in the colony, to acquire land. Each successive shipload of
immigrants accentuated the need for more land. Exploration of

areas suitable for settlement became of immediate importance.

The land most sought after had to be arable, suitable for sheep

and with plentiful water, since in a dry continent water

dictates the areas for settlement.

As early as 1831 Hamilton Hume, who had walked with

Hovel1 from Sydney in 1824 to one of the newer areas, Port

Phillip, was predicting that if the country at Bass Strait

were thrown open to immigration it would prove in a short

time to be the "granary of the colony" and one of the greatest

sheep countries in Australia1. In 1836, the Surveyor General

of New South Wales, Thomas Mitchell, reported that he had

travelled from the Murray to Portland rivers, alone the coast

to the west of Port Phi11ip, over land which for natural fertility
and beauty could scarcely be surpassed, across streams of

1. “A Short History of Australia” – Manning Clark
    New American Library 1963 - page 79

unfailing abundance and plains covered with the richest
pastorage. Stately trees and majestic mountains adorned
the over varying scenery of this region, the most southern

of all Australia and the most fertile1. By September 1836

the Governor of New South Wales, Governor Bourke, obtained

London's approval to authorize the settlement of Port Phillip

as a district of New South Wales2.


Immediately the land seekers the settlers in

southern New South Wales began to "overland" in drays with

their flocks and herds, following Major Mitchell’s line.

New settlers in Sydney were attracted by the reports and

followed the rest3. Captain William Lonsdale was sent from

Sydney to take charge, since so many, overlanders had moved

into Australia Felix, or the Western District and to Port

Phillip. The New South Wales Government had proclaimed the

District open to settlement, the first land sales consequently

took place. The first blocks were sold by auction in June
1837 and from then on the district grew.


Overland migration gathered momentum as word spread that

the new pastures had a reliable rainfa11 and with an easy access

to ports. So many Sydney buyers came to dominate the land auct-

ions at Melbourne and Geelong that the Government decided to

hold the next sales in Sydney. Busy southern settlers were left

to the mercy of agents whose eager biddings pushed up the price

of grazing land to more than 40/- an acre. Only a little while

later grazing land to rose to £9/-/- an acre at Government auctions

1. Ibid – page 80

2. "Australia: The Quiet Continent" – Douglas Pike



Cambridge University Press – 1966 Page 79

3. Op Cit Page 80
with prompt private resale for £50/—/-. From £37,000

acquired in the 1838 sales of Crown Land in the Port Phillip

District this increased to £219,000 in 18403.


As the prices grew to huge proportions so did speculation.
Agents in Sydney bought large areas of land with the express
purpose of selling them at a large profit, never with the intention
of occupying them. One such man, Thomas Wills, son of a
convict transported for highway robbery in England, whose family

had entered successfully into business in Sydney, bought large
pieces of land in the Port Phillip District2. One of these
areas was Portion 8 of Crown Land, a 970 acre block which eventually
became known as “Yallambie” by later owners3. The original
land purchase followed the form of so many at that time4.

Portion  8 was a rectangular b1ock, the only irregular
border being the Plenty River which ran along its extreme eastern

boundary, a river which before it was dammed to create the Yan

Yean Reservoir, was the only other river in the Port Phillip
District deserving the title of “river”, other that the Yarra.
The name “Plenty” was due entirely to the fact that all the year
round it had a large flow of water and at certain periods of the
year was navigable for miles upstream. The land had heavy bush
and shrub with mainly dense growth of gum. Included in this
portion was a large flood plain stretching through the entire area of a bend in the river and completely encompassed within
the boundaries of Portion 8. It was to prove a few years later
extremely fertile land for close farming for the requirements of
an estate. The land was slightly undulating with, except for the
flood plain, a great deal of clay. It was approximately ten miles
1. Op Cit – Page 80

2. “Heidelberg – The Land and its People 1838-1900”
  Donald Stuart Garden (submitted for degree of Master of Arts
                        Monash University – 1970)
3. See illustration (i)

4. See extract of Land Title – illustration (ii)

from the centre of Melbourne with all the requirements of a good

investment.


In the nineteenth century Portion 8 would have been a

small area of land when compared with the thousands of acres

further inland, the large sheep holdings stretching for miles

usually facing a river. It was not therefore bought for the

purpose of sheep farming but purely for the sake of investment.


Wills overlanded to Melbourne in 1839 but possibly before

he did so he sold Portion 8 for approximately £200/-/— profit,

only two months after the original purchase. In 1840 he purchased

176 acres at the junction of Darebin Creek and the Yarra River.

He paid £21/10/— an acre for the land, a price regarded at the

time as ridiculously high. Ric and Howitt, the poet, brother of

William, another poet, and uncle of A. W. Howitt the noted scientist

and explorer, was a neighbour. In his "Impressions of Australia

Felix" Richard Howitt wrote — "Our nearest neighbour was Thomas

Wills, one of the most intelligent gentlemen of the colony, a

magistrate, a native of the Middle District (Sydney), what we must

call an Anglo—Australian. His estate is a valuable one. His house

with its pillared and balconied front is of graceful architecture,

delightfully situated on pleasant knolls and slops".1

Quite likely, part of this estate would have been financed by

the sale of Portion 8 and similar blocks bought around Heidelberg at

the Sydney land sales. He sold this portion to a Sydney capitalist,

Thomas Walker, for £1,261 on March 1839.2 Thomas Walker was one of

the wealthiest Australian colonists and Victoria, or the Port Phillip

District, helped very materially to establish the Walker fortunes.

With Lachlan McAlister, Henry Dutton and Thomas Brown, Walker set out

from Sydney on horseback for Port Phillip early, in 1837. Their

1. Kenyon Press Cuttings IX — Australasian 1935


"Pastoral Pioneers" Page 53

2. Title Deed from Titles Office, Queen Street, Melbourne.
bullock dray, loaded with its tents and provisions followed

on. The journey was made in leisurely stages averaging about

twelve miles a day. Walker was very pleased with the trip.

"We do indeed lead a rough and queer life of it" he wrote.

"Always in the open air, none of us have shaved these several

days past, and in our straw hats, check shirts and bush dresses

we must look pretty pictures. I have not slept with my clothes

off since I left Yass. The glorious freedom we have in the bush

has its charms and there is a wilderness that pleases".


He expressed the opinion that investment would pay better

than merchandizing — he was a merchant in Sydney and Walker

backed his opinion by investing. Walker bought four valuable

Bourke Street blocks for £135/—/—; McAlister's four, two of which

were in Collins Street, cost £311—/— and Brown paid £811—/—

for his lots. Then the party sold their bullocks, horses, tents

and stores and returned to Sydney by sea.1


However Walker was not content until he added to his initial

Port Phillip investments. A year later he went into partnership

with Richard Henry Browne.2 He acquired 3,130 acres at Heidelberg,


1. Op Cit

2. Browne was commonly known at the time as "Continental Browne" a

social celebrity, a man who was capable of making the entire

district of Heidelberg extremely fashionable, generally known

for his reminiscence and enthusiasm on the subject of the grand

European tour which gave him his nickname. "This most sentimental

speculator, most refined of land agents" had either personally or

as a deputy for the firm of Sydney capitalists "Browne & Walker

of Concord" bought at an auction on the 12th of September, 1838,

over 4,000 acres; all the land between the Yarra River and the

Darebin Creek up as far as the village (Warringal) and somewhat

beyond it.


"Heidelberg the City of Streams" — A. S. Kenyon pamphlet — Page
970 acres being portion 8 as well as several hundred acres around

Melbourne and Geelong. He had been able to procure 3,480 acres at

Yan lean for £2,000 in 1839 and his other acquisitions occurred

a little later. Altogether he had 12,700 acres of freehold in

Port Phillip, including allotments in Melbourne and Geelong and his

total outlay was less than £16,000. In the name of his Company,

William Walker & Company, he held in addition, the squatting runs of

Port Punka, Thologolong, Junction, Murray, Hayfield, Onico B, Tom

Griffin and Banyena.


Before he reached middle age, Thomas Walker was known as one

of the leading pasturalists and merchants, trading all over Australia

and Great Britain and was President of the Bank of New South Wales

for many years. He left for England in 1882 where he died in

September 1886.1


Very soon after Thomas Walker completed the purchase of Portion

8 he began to subdivide it into small holdings.2 His dealings with

these 970 acres is shown as "lease and release" and is best shown as

it appears in the Title papers. Some Allotments were maintained in

partnership, others were sold to Robert Cook, Thomas Elliott, James

Campbell, Solomon Mocatta, Hugh Chambers and Nicholas Fenwick.

Subsequently, most of Portion 8 passed into other hands with considera—

ble profit to Thomas Walker.3

1. A. S. Kenyon — Press Cuttings Vol. IX — _ Australasian 8/12/34

"Pastoral Pioneers".

2. See illustration ( ) Deed Title extracted from Titles Office,




 Queen Street, Melbourne.

3. Deed Title application  No. 27353
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 Conveyance on £2,261

20 June 1839 Thos. Walker 1st part

29 June 1839 Robert Cook of Sydney Cent. 10 & 1 A

and Solomon Mocatta of 2nd part Bathurst Esq. 3rd part.
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28th August 1844
Graham & Ryrie & Alicia Richarda Campbell
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to  Bank of Australasia conveyance to Bank in
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of probate London.
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   J. Bakewell of Balderton Newark on Trent, Esq.
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   to Thomas Wragge of Yallambie, Cent'm — convey conson









    £2,950.

As can be seen by the Title documents Portion 8 eventually

came into the hands of the Bakewells who seem to have systemati—

cally bought up all the small allotments until it was almost back

to its original size. The two Quaker brothers John and Robert had

come to Port Phillip with their sister Phoebe and her husband,

Dr. Godfrey Howitt, on the ship called the "Lord Goderich" on the

7th April, 1840.1


John Bakewell was born in Nottingham in 1807 and his brother

Robert in 1809 and they both received their education at Friend's

School, Ackworth, Yorkshire. Both were later trained in the

Yorkshire woollen mills which was to help them in Australia in

forming their own company. A year after their arrival in Port

Phillip the two brothers entered into partnership with John Wyberg

Shaw in a grazing property on the Lower Plenty, which they named

"Floraville". They bought Crown Portion 7 from George Porter and

also acquired between 1842 and 1854 most of Portion 8. At the same

time the brothers opened in Market Square as wool sorters. Ultimately

this concern was converted into Richard Goldsbrough and Co.2


There is some doubt as to whether the Bakewell's built their

homestead on Portion 7 or 8. The Wragge family, the subsequent owners

thought that the Bakewell house stood where the tennis court now

stands.3 A. S. Kenyon claimed the homestead was on Portion 7 but

omits the fact that they also owned Portion 8. The descriptions of

the land around the house could apply to either portion. When Richard

Howitt visited his relatives he wrote  —  "At the River Plenty reside

J. and R. B. The river is a small one but as its name imports, never

exhausted. The locality is at the commencement of the vast and sterile

1. "Early Pioneer Families of Victoria and Riverina" Alexander Henderson
    1936 — McCarson Bird & Co. — Melbourne  —  pg.441

2. "Heidelberg"— The City of Streams"  —  A. S. Kenyon Pamphlet  —  pg.73

3. Information given by Mrs. Bush, granddaughter of Thomas Wragge.


When reading the descriptions given by the Howitts, the land


they describe fits the area of the tennis court but this is


still not known positively.

stringy-bark forests. Part of their farm is consequently almost

worthless, and the other, by the waterside, of the richest

quality. Their weatherboarded house is situated beautifully on

an eminence, in the wild region, overlooking the river and its

meadow. Winding down a footpath out in zig zags, you descend

to the Plenty flat, in which is the garden, one of the best in the

whole district, full of (for the time they have been planted)

astonishingly large, healthful and beautiful fruit trees. Vines

I never saw grow so freshly, so luxuriantly; but that which was the

pleasantest surprise was a largish clump of what in England we

should not look for in a garden, yet what once filled in England

the shoul of Linnaeus with delight, covered over with its golden

bloom - gorse; the seed whence it was raised was taken from a

common near Nottingham. How neat and nicely fitted up was their

house! In it, with its thin walls and French windows, you seemed

scarcely indoors".1


The next description of the Bakewell farm is given by William

Howitt, brother of Richard who on September 12th 1852 was in Melbourne

and caught in the crowd flocking to the gold diggings. On the way he

decided to pay a visit to the Bakewells at the Lower Plenty. -

.... "The country grew pleasanter as we advanced, of a gentle undulating

character. There were, here and there, good houses of wealthy settlers;

the woods were enlivened by parrots, warbling magpies, and other birds

whose notes were generally clear and pleasant, though not aspiring

to the rank of song. The Plenty farm is agreeably situated on the

high swell above the river of that name. It has a considerable extent

of cultivated fields; the house is one of these wooden ones brought

out of England, and which seem as good now as the day they were set up.

To this are added extensive out-buildings, generally of wood and some

of thsm roofed with strindy bark. We found a hearty welcome from Mr.
Robert Bakewell, who chiefly resides there. From the brow of the hill

on which the house stands on a lawn of rich kangaroo grass, the bank

1. Op Cit — pg.73
descends steeply to a flat of from four to five acres which is

laid out in a garden orchard and vineyard. From the hill near

the house you have a full view of the whole garden. I was

surprised to see the flat of this garden planted with vines and

the sloping sides of the hill only partly planted with them. But

as they grow the grapes chiefly for the market, no doubt the obtain

much heavier branches, but they would not produce such a finely

flavoured wine. The apples, pears and plums there flourish and

bear immensely. They have plenty of gooseberries and currants

they have too. All other fruits flourish beautifully. The boys,

Alfred and Charlton, amuse themselves with fishing and caught what

they call black-fish and trout, to us quite new fish, and a brilliant

blue crawfish with prickles all down each side of its tail".1


Other than the grazing property on the Plenty River, the

brothers held a very prominent position among the early pioneer

squatters. The following runs and properties John Bakewell owned

by himself or in partnership. Since he seems to have been the brother

most interested in these runs it would explain why Robert Bakewell

was the Chief resident at Floraville. Between 1845 - 52 both brothers

held Burneway with 113,000 acres, Mantons or Tooradin 16,000 acres.

He held in partnership with John Mickle between 1852 - 59, and by

himself the years 1859-71. Torbinurruck was in partnership with Lyall

and Mickle 1851-64, as was Great Swamp 1854-9 and continuing between

John and Lyall only, 1859-74. Brenanah was held with Mickle 1852

onwards. All properties were in the 'Western Port District.2

John Bakewell returned to England with his brother Robert in

1857, Robert settling at Tooradin House, St. John's Wood, London, where

he died unmarried in 1867. At his death all Roberts properties passed

1. Ibid pg.79, 80

2. "Early Pioneers of Victoria and Riverina" - Alexander Henderson


McCarson Bird & Co. 1936 - Melbourne  pg.441
to John. He settled at Old Hall Balderton near Newark, Nottingham—

shire with the wife he had married in 1859. He paid his last visit

to Victoria in 1862 to wind up his business affairs, returning to

England the following year. He died at Balderton, Nottingham

in 1888.1

.—**0**—.

1. Ibid

CHAPTER II

In December 1872 John Bakewell sold Yallambie Park, as it

was then known, to Thomas Wragge for £2,950 or a little under £5

an acre. Undoubtedly Thomas Wragge was on this land before he

actually "bought" it, as the first Heidelberg Shire Rate Book of

1871 shows that Thomas Wragge was paying his rates as the owner

before this period.1 Therefore it is quite likely that when he

arrived in the colony he worked for the Bakewells and then decided

in the 1860's to purchase the property over a period of years.

This can perhaps be substantiated by the Statutory Declaration

made on the 14th October 1890 by Thomas Wragge "that the southern

boundary of the land has been standing in its present position for

over 30 years as - the declarant knows from having been the occupant

of the said land for that time. To the best of the declarant's

knowledge and belief, the part of the fence forming the southern

boundary and running from a point on the Lower Plenty Road to the

Eastern boundary of Greensborough Road and dividing the land applied

for from land belonging to James Graham as shown on the plan of

survey forms part of the southern boundary of Portion 8."2 The

date coincides with about the time when John Bakewell returned to

Victoria in 1862 to finalise his business affairs and possibly a

a contract for purchase of the land was made at this time.

There were three Wragge brothers who came to Australia in the

1850's, two concerned themselves totally with the land, the other

with municipal affairs of Melbourne. They were the sons of George

1. Heidelberg Shire Rate Book 1871 - 
Heidelberg Shire Offices,






Ivanhoe Town Hall.

2. Deed Title - Titles Office, Queen Street, Melbourne.
and Maria Wragge, farmers of Chadesden, near Derby.1 George

Wragge, the eldest of the three was born on the 20th January 1825

near Winkworth, England. He was educated at Mr. Godaers Academy,

Standard Hill, Nottingham where he was apprenticed to Mr. C.

Wilcockson, a chemist and druggist.2 He emigrated to Australia

with his brothers and established a chemist shop in Collins Street

where he was in business for 37 years. Not long after he was

settled in the colony he began to enter into municipal affairs and

in 1860 was elected unopposed to the City Council for the Latrobe

Ward, and was re—elected three times, and three times as alderman.

In 1862 he was elected president of the Pharmaceutical Society of

Victoria and in October 1864 was elected Mayor of Melbourne and

installed on the 9th of Novembcr.3 He worked on various committees

which helped to improve the amenities of the city; he was chairman

of health committees and was instrumental in introducing sanitary

reforms. He doubled the number of street lights without increasing

the cost to the citizen. The contract which had been £14 per light

was reduced to £7 by a clause in the specification allowing the

Collingwood Gas Company to compete.4

George Wragge with the financial help of J. S. Butters

originated moves for the building of a more suitable Town Hall for

Melbourne. The Old Town Hall5 was built between 1852-3, a small,

simple building which served its purpose for a small town, but as the

town grew so the necessity for public buildings to display this

expansion and prosperity grew. Eventually the Old Town Hall was

pulled down and the one that stands on the  corner of Collins and

1. Death Certificate — obtained from Registrar Office, Queen Str. Melbourne
2. Town  Hall — photocopy information of records of Mayors of Melbourne.

3. Australian Journal of Pharmacy — June 1889 pg.262.

4. Ibid.

5. Illustration  ( ) — "Chronicles of Early Melbourne 1835-52"




By “Garryowen" —  Ferguson & Mitchell 1888




Illustration  pg.904
Swanston Street took it place. The New Town Hall had no portico

in its original design, this was added much later to give a feeling

of more dignity to the entrance; originally there were two symmetrical stairways on either side of the main door.

In 1870 the first business over transacted in the new chamber

at the opening of the Town Hall was a presentation to George Wraggel
and when he left the Council and retired from municipal life he was

presented with an illuminated address on the 16th March, 1874,

headed:

"To George Wragge, Alderman, ex—Mayor and J.P."

and signed by John McIlwraith, Mayor and the Town Clerk.2
He died at his Melbourne home on the 25th May, 1889.3

William Wragge followed his other brother, Thomas, first in

partnership with James Hearn in the large Uadry Station in 18604
but when the partnership split, Williarn continued the partnership

with James and John Hearn in large sheep runs “Whaparella Station",

adding "Marathon" and "Restdown" a little later. This partnership

lasted almost until the death of the partners. Thomas Wragge however

branched out quite separately to start his own land interests.


Thomas Wragge was born in 1831 in Toton, Nottingham,

Due to the fact that his parents were farmers5 Thomas was trained in

1. Obituary — "Argus" 25/5/1889 pg.1, 5.

2. Op Cit

3. Op Cit

4. The "Riverina" - Robert Ronald Cheshire 1960.

   See also illustration ( ) and ( ) for properties owned at one

   time by the Wragges either in partnership or in complete ownership.

   Illustration ( ) taken from flyleaf of the "Riverina" — map of

   south—west Riverina and adjacent part of the estern Division of

   N.S.W. showing station in the eighties. Illustration ( ) taken

   from Architecture in Australia — April 1971 — 164a.

5. Death Certificate.
farmwork. In 1851, with his two brothers he set sail for Australia

with £25 as capital. His knowledge of farmwork and an introduction

to the Bakewells, procured in England from the remaining family,

secured him a position in the Port Phillip settlement. He decided

to learn something about the new country and its conditions and

took a job on a sheep station for which he was paid £40 per annum1.

He obtained a position on the Salt Water River at Maribyrnong where

he remained for about six months and then joined the organisation of

Goldsbrough Mort & Co. in the capacity of Manager of "Burnewang"

station. Thomas resigned this after three years at "Burnewang" to

enable him to form a partnership with his brother and the Hearn

brothers in a pastoral firm called "Wragge and Hearn"2.

The Hearns were an old pioneering family; James Hearn and

his four eldest children arrived at Port Phillip on the 28th April

1841 and in the same year purchased one acre of land at Sydney Road,

Brunswick. He then went to a property called "Mercers Vale" between

Beveridge and Wallan. In 1855 he purchased Mt. Martha station,

Westernport, which consisted of 12,000 acres and later purchased

Thorngrove estate at Somerton where he died in 1857. It was his son

James, born the 13th July, 1842 in Melbourne, who entered into

partnership with his brother John and the Wragge brothers in Uadry

station on the Murrumbidgee, where they established the well known

Uadry Stud of Merino sheep3. To stock their hundred thousand acre

purchase they had to bring it overland from "Wanganella" station,

owned by the Peppin family and situated 70 miles north of Echuca4.

The Uadry property was sold to Charles Mills, A. A. Neilson and

T. Smith in 18755. Thomas Wragge dropped out of the partnership

and the other three partners carried on. They acquired Tom's Lake

property and in 1875 purchased Restdown station on the Campaspe, then

1. The Victorian Centenary Book 1834-5 1 1934-5, a series of records

   of people and firms at the time of the Centenary — pg.134

2. "Founders of Australia and their Descendents" — S. Kenyon pg.225

3. "Early Pioneer Families of Victoria and the Riverina" Alexander

    Henderson — McCorson Bird & Co. 1936 — pg.22

4. Op Cit.

5. "The Riverina" — Robert Ronald Cheshire — 1960 — pg.72
Cultowa on the Darling eventually acquiring Willowgrove near

Echuca. In 1901 John Hearn sold his interest in the partnership

to his brother James and the partnership was dissolved; William

Wragge taking over Whaparella and James Hearn retaining Restdown

which he held till his death on the 19th July 1904 when it was

sold by his executors to the Closer Settlement Board of Victoria.1


In  1861  Thomas Wragge  married  Sarah Ann Hearn, a sister of

his  partners the Hearns. She was born in England in 1840 and had

come to Australia with her parents a year after her birth. She

bore him nine children. Thomas born 1863, James 1864 who died

as an 11 month infant, Sarah 1867, Louisa 1868, Caroline date of

birth unknown, Alice 1673, Amin 1874, 1876 and Henry

born in 1882.2 In some cases she gave birth to her children in

extremely primitive conditions but continued to travel across the

countryside accompanying her husband whenever she could.3


In 1868 Thomas Wragge was in England but returned in the

early seventies and started his own pastoral business. His main

station was "Tulla" a hundred thousand acre property which was

west of Deniliquin in New South Wales, which he bought in 1880.

The station was originally called "Beremegad" owned by E. B. Green,

was  renamed "Tulla" and "Chowar" stations.4 Thomas Wragge bought

"Tulla" and established a merino flock which became famous

throughout the Commonwealth. Several well known flocks were

established in New South Wales from stock bred at Tulla. The first

homestead on "Tulla" was a small mud brick and timbered one—storied

building with a small front verandah and slate floor in, all the

rooms. The little schoolroom was built next to the old homestead

with very similar building construction as the house.5 This  was

1. Kenyon Press Cuttings — Vol.IX — Pastoral Pioneers 80.

2. Death Certificate and Tombstone Memorials at Heidelberg Cemetery.

3. Photo illustration taken from "Founders of Australia".

4.  "The Riverina" — Robert Ronald Cheshire 1960

5. Paintings (now the possession of Mrs. Bush) executed by Sarah Wragge,

   daughter of Thomas.
later replaced about 1890 with a larger building with a verandah

surrounding three sides of the house, with lacy wrought iron on

slim pillars. This building was placed in front, retaining the

older buildings for other purposes at the rear of the homestead

complex.1


About three years after the purchase of "Tulla" Thomas

Wragge purchased "Chowar" Station, a further 100,000 acres which

adjoined "Tulla" and this made his holdings in the district two

complete properties, each being ten miles square. "Tulla" was

owned by the Wragges until 1922. A large proportion of this is

now part of the Wakool Irrigation area under the Closer Settlement

Board of Victoria for the purpose of growing rice. The property is

completely surrounded by a system of rivers resulting in fertile

flats with an abundance of water.

_**0**_.

1. Illustration — "Tulla" homestead — "Founders of Australia" pg.

CHAPTER III


Between 1872-1873 Thomas Wragge made the final purchase of

"Yallambie Park", finalising an agreement probably contracted in

the 1860's with John Bakewell. The six hundred and, forty acres

he bought of the original nine hundred and seventy acres cost

Thomas  Wragge £2,9502. Yallambie's borders became the Plenty

River, the Lower Plenty Road, Nicholas Fenwisk's property and

Watsonia Road3. Of course the roads were merely bush tracks

almost all the way to the township of Melbourne and the bridges

were small, narrow bluestone structures crossing the major creeks

on the way. Heidelberg had just been given the status of Shire

and the nearest Church of England was in Warringal4 some three or

four miles away. Bullock drays took two full days to reach the

Melbourne markets although on horseback it took a few hours, with

a change of horses pre-arranged at either Clifton Hill or the

Darebin Creek crossing. Properties were isolated from the city

population and farming was the prime consideration. "Yallambie" was

ten miles from the city and needed to be self-sufficient. Fruit

1. Most of the information given in Chapter III concerning the

   "Yallambie" homestead was kindly provided by Mrs. Bush, granddaughter

   of Thomas Wragge, who was 18 years of age when the house was

   remodelled.

2. Price shown on Title Deed.

3. See illustration ( ) with black border around the property bought

   by  Thomas Wragge.

4. St.John's Church of England - Heidelberg. - one  of  the  oldest

   churches in Victoria completed in 1851. Thomas and Sarah  Wragge

   having  the commemorative altar stained glass window dedicated to

   them. Although years later Thomas Wragge donated an acre on his

   north-west corner for a Church of England to be built, the church

   has since been demolished to make room for a petrol station.

growing and orchardry1, as well as grazing were the most important

crops but in the early days this heavily timbered property had to

be cleared by primitive means such as axe and fire and this laborious

task took quite a number of years to complete.


During his lifetime Thomas Wragge alternatively resided at

"Tulla" and "Yallambie". “Yallambie" was the focal point for the

purpose of conducting his affairs in Melbourne. It was a farm

of relatively small size with only a few heads of cattle, sheep

and some chickens as well as a few acres of wheat and fodder crops.

Its main purpose would probably have been as a town estate, a short

distance from Melbourne where the commercial aspects of his landed

interests could be quickly and easily dealt with. Sales of wool

at the Melbourne markets, where he had once had a wool sorting

business of his own, would have been conveniently handled from

"Yallambie". However, the “Yallambie" homestead would have been

considered the family home. "Tulla" homestead was relatively

small and was not extended until 1890 so there is little doubt

that the main residence of the Wragges would have been the “Yallarbie"

farm. While Thomas Wragge travelled to "Tulla" most of the family

would have remained on the Lower Plenty estate.


The original 970 acres  had  been reduced to 640 when Thomas

Wragge bought the remainder of Portion 8. The most fertile part

of the property was the large river flat, a piece of land often

flooded in a heavy winter but with a rich soil easily tilled for

vegetables and small produce. The house stood on a high prominence

overlooking the flat with a 150 feet terraced drop to the river flat.

A small stone—stepped path led down to the river. The pump house

was built at the base  of  the prominence as a means of supplying the

1. Thomas  Wragge was one of the first orchardists in the district.

   The quality of his trees was admired and the Botanical Gardens

   took several of them to enhance the Gardens.
domestic needs of the house, as well as a wooden windmill on the

water's edge. The Plenty River continued, although dammed at its

source, to provide ample water for the house and stock at "Yallambie".


The “Yallambie" homestead was a two—storied building, placed

on a gently sloping prominence overlooking the river and surrounding

countryside. Large trees, many of them of English origin, were

planted in the immediate surrounds of the building, obscuring the

house from the river. The house was set so far back on the property

that it was impossible to see it from the road. The house was

situated or the eastern boundary of the 640 acre property2 and the

communicating driveway to the Lower Plenty Road was a tree—lined

road about half a mile long.


The house itself was a large building to accommodate a large

family and was obviously intended to be no more than a family home;

there were no large reception rooms, ballroom3 or state rooms. It

was a large farm homestead for a family of ten. It was the typical

home of a pioneer who had two homesteads and constantly travelled

between them. This could explain the extreme functionalism of the

house, the rooms not too large to retain the heat in winter since

they only had wood burning fireplaces, and a compact plan where the

rooms were set almost in a square rather than in a rambling fashion.


The house was the third built on the property; the former

possibly being the Bakewell's original building, and an oak pre—

fabricated cottage which had been built some time previously probably

1. Although the building is still standing I am using the past tense

   to describe the house as it was before 1923, even if some of the

   features are the same before and after this date.

2. See illustration ( )

3. When a ball was occasionally held, the dining—room was cleared for

   that purpose. In this room the guests would remain dancing all the

   evening and watch the sunrise. Such occasions were few but when they

   did occur they continued until early hours of the morning.

for Thomas Wragge's use while “Yallambie" was in the process of

being builtl. It is hard to ascertain the date of the actual

building of "Yallambie"; Thomas Wragge was on the land in the

1860's and he completed the sale in 1873, so presumably the

house would have been built shortly before or after 1873.

Unfortunately during this period no rate notices give a "farm"

recognition of a "farmhouse" on the property. Once a man bought

a large property the Council was not concerned as to what buildings

he erected on the property as he paid his rates according to the

land he held2.


The stables were probably the oldest buildings on the property3,

partly made with huge rocks piled on top of one another to create the

partition walls; the outside walls were made of hand made bricks.

Originally the roof would have been covered with bark but tide was

later replaced with corrugated iron3. The stables were shielded from

view from the house by a large ten foot high brick wall which

extended the entire length of the stable complex, with large wooden

gates for easy access through the wall.


The other detached buildings were the dairy and the laundry.

The dairy was a 13 ft. by 12 ft. building with large slate benches

with deep hollows to hold the cream containers and keep them cool.

The laundry was a divided building: one side presumably for the

actual washing and the other reserved for the ironing. Large coppers

would have been used for boiling the household linen but most of the

other laundry would have had to be done by hand.

1. "Heidelberg - the  Land  and its People 1838-19O0." Donald Stuart Garden

    submitted for degree of Master of Arts - Monash University 1970.

2. The Rate Book of Heidelberg Shire 1871 shows: "Wragge T. Farm -

   R. Plenty annual value £200, reduced on appeal to £170, his rates

   thereby reduced from £5 to £4/5/— or 6d.in the pound.

3. Thought to have been built by the Bakewells. Map in Mrs. Bush's

   possession, belonging to the Bakewells, shows the stables in their

   present position.

4. See photograph

Original simple amenities such as water had to be pumped

via the pump house on the flat up to an underground storage tank

in front of the house. The old pump1 which stood in front of the

house still works effectively. The water in this storage tank was

exclusively drinking water for the family and water required for

such domestic  purposes as bathing, washing and laundering had to be

brought up from the river in buckets by the servants.


The servants' quarters, all of which were later pulled down,

were of wooden construction and built behind the main building.


The basic construction materials for the house were large

hand—made bricks, possibly three bricks placed side by side formed

the thickness of the walls. All the bricks were made on the

property in the kiln built for that purpose. After the brick work

had been completed the entire external surface walls were treated

with a cement stucco and then lines etched into the wet concrete

to give the appearance of very large blocks of  stone. The roof

was covered with overlapping slate and the iron guttering encircled

the edge of the roof. Both verandahs, one at the front of the

house and the other at the side had corrugated iron roofs which

gently overhung the verandahs. The house had very little wrought

iron which was used only on the two verandahs. It was of a fine

tracery design upheld with slim elegant fluted columns culminating

in tiny Corinthian capitols all made of iron. All the windows were

graciously curved but not too large to obviate the strong sunlight.

The entire placement of the house was designed so that very little

direct light entered the house from any direction. With thick walls,

high  ceilings, indirect light and the dark heavy drapes placed at

every window, the summer heat could be almost entirely excluded.2
1.See  illustration ( )

2.See illustrations ( ) and ( )• These  illustrations were

  reconstructed with the assistance of Mrs. Bush and old photos in

  her possession.

The external surface of the house had very little decoration.

As previously mentioned, the iron work was kept to a minimum, the

simple curved windows had very little moulding or sculptural work;

basically, all the elements of the house complemented the square—

ness of the plan. The only room which broke from the lines of

the rest of the house was the drawing room with its large bay window

made up of three curved faceted windows projecting to a prominence

at the main entrance to the house.1 Above the bay window was a

small balcony shaped like half a hexagon with the door of the main

bedroom opening out on to it. The balcony had a decorative circle

motif around its three sides. It was in fact the only outside

appendage to the first floor; there were no verandahs over the other

bedrooms, possibly because they were so situated against the sun

that there was no necessity to protect them from the intense summer

heat. Very simple mouldings encircled the house, their level was

set to meet the windows where the arches started. The same pattern

was repeated on the ground and first floor. There was a slight

variation in the shape of the windows on both floors; the lower

windows had rounded arches whereas the top floor ones had very

shallow curved arches. All windows were symmetrically balanced, with

each window identical in size. The large front door had a fanlight

directly above it with glass panels down the sides of the heavy

timbering allowing as much light into the entrance passage as was

deemed necessary. The approach to the front porch was by means of

three blue stone steps, with blocks of blue stone fanning out into

the garden on either side of them. The porch had small red and blue

tiles along its length, creating a decorative feature to the

entrance of the house.

1. Illustration (  )

The house interior which covered seventy—five squares of

floor space comprised nine ground floor rooms and seven on the

top floor1. Downstairs the family rooms included the drawing—room,

dining—room, smoking—room, sewing room and study. The rest of the

ground floor, almost exclusively reserved for the servants, consisted

of the kitchen, scullery and small sitting—room (which may have at

one time been a storeroom, a staff dining—room or a walk—in pantry).


The downstairs room which allowed in the most sunshine was the

drawing—room. Its three faceted windows extended westward capturing

the afternoon light. In winter it was an ideal room; in summer there

were cedar slat, similar to venetial blinds, to protect the room from

direct sunlight; the heavy drapes fitted to all the windows also

prevented the penetration of intense light. There were two other

windows on the southside of the room overlooking the rose garden

planted on this side of the house. A white marble fireplace stood

in the corner of the room providing heat to this room with high

ceilings and a floorspace of four squares (or four hundred square

feet). It would have been one of the main family rooms, large

enough to contain a large chintz covered settee several chairs - and

occasional tables. Scrolled richly coloured wall paper adorned the

room; many paintings produced by Thomas' daughter Sarah Wragge added

1. Illustrations ( ) and ( ). The floor plans were taken from a

   pamphlet by A. V. Jennings offering “Yallambie" for sale. The rooms

   described are not the same as the ones on .A.V. Jennings drawings

   as in 1923 the house was altered. The rooms described here are

   according to descriptions related by Mrs. Bush who recounted for

   what purpose most of the rooms were used prior to 1923. In some

   some instance it could not be remembered and only possibilities

   were stated. In the description it is best to look at the

   illustrations as well.

2. Illustration ( ) — a man's chair in the possession of Mrs. Bush;

   belonging to Thomas Wragge.

to its decor. The drawing—room was a unique room in the house;

all the other rooms, without exception, were either square or

rectangular and it became a favourite room of the family. The

room adjoining the drawing room was reserved mainly for the male

members of the family; the smoking—room, being very similar to the

drawing—room with two windows overlooking the garden and another

facing out on the verandah overlooking the river. This was more of

an evening room where the men could retire after their meal to have

a quiet smoke and discuss their affairs. A smaller room than the

drawing—room, only because of the lack of a bay window.


Opposite and across the passage from these two rooms was a

room used by the womenfolk for embroidery and sewing activity. A

small square room with a window looking down the central driveway

and shielded from the sun by the front verandah.


Returning again to the wide L—shaped passage, there were two

rooms on the east side of the ground floor, the study and the dining—

room. The study may at one time have been bigger than it is today

as it is possible a bathroom later reduced the size of the study to

serve the tennis court. It had a small marble fireplace with

possibly two windows overlooking the river. It would seem unlikely

that there would have been a bathroom downstairs with the limited

facilities of Thomas Wragge's day, although it may have been a room

with water jug and basin just for washing of hands before dining.


Next to this room with a communicating door to it was the

dining—room, undoubtedly the largest room in the house and possibly

the most important. All the family meals were taken in this room

and, as was previously stated, once or twice a year it was cleared

to become the ballroom of the house. Centrally placed between two

curved windows was the black marble fireplace, the only black marble

in the house. There were three heavy wooden doors, one leading into

1. Illustration ( ) — The only fireplace still in its original state.

the the study and another on the same wall opening out on to the

verandah. Delicate paintings of various flowers found in the

district were executed on these two doors by Sarah Wragge, Thomas'

eldest daughter. The same motif trailed over the panels in the

soft colours of the flowers, it is believed that she was trained

and tutored in painting by some of the members of the Heidelberg

School who did a great deal of their work around the Plenty River.

The other door lead via a smaller passage to the kitchen. The

kitchen and dining-room doors were directly opposite one another.

Dinner was brought directly to the table as quickly and as efficiently

as possible, on a wheeled trolley along the connecting passage; an

effort was made to keep the food warm in large silver servers.

The dining room furniture consisted of a Sheraton dining suite with

a large oval table, of simple elegant proportions and sufficient to

accommodate a large family.


Opposite the dining -room was another small room but its purpose

is unknown; whether it communicated only with the hall or only with

the kitchen could make it part of the family rooms or part of the

servants' complex, it is probably most likely that there was only

one door which opened from the family to the servants' quarters.


Originally there were four house servants, the cook, the

parlourmaid, the chambermaid and the laundress. Of course there

was a gardener to care for the homestead grounds as well as farm

labourers to attend to the manual work required in running the

farm. The laundress was a permanent member of the household, required

to maintain the women's long dresses and petticoats clean as well as

the large amount of linen which would be utilised by a large family.

The upstairs and downstairs maids were a must for maintaining a house

of its size and to see to the wants of its occupiers. However, the

centre of servant activity would be the kitchen where a large wood

stove was constantly hot.

The farm produced most of the necessary requirements for the

kitchen vegetables from the river flat, dairy produce preserved

in the dairy, a few cattle and fruit. A central beard went across

the kitchen and from this hung cured pigs, sausages, dried fruit

and vegetables until required. The fruit was preserved by the

family themselves who would take the produce of a season and

store it in large jars labelled and shelved in the pantry for use

during the following year. The making of the Christmas pudding

again brought the family to the kitchen and every year at the same

time the women would don their white frilly aprons and contribute

towards the preparations for Christmas dinner.


A small room off the kitchen contained a back stairway -

leading to the top floor. This could have been intended for the

servants' use to give them direct access from the kitchen to the

first floor as unobtrusively as possible, without having to use

the main stairway, or it may have merely been a back exit for the

top floor.


The family reached the first floor by ascending a wide and

graciously curved staircase. From the hall its wide steps culminated

on a landing and then curved back obliquely on itself and continued

to the top floor. The bannister of polished cedar with no ornamentation

other than its simple elegance traversed the length of the staircase.

At the top of the stairs was a large arched window made of figured

glass, throwing light into the upstairs hall.


On the first or top floor, were situated the bedrooms, billiard

room and the bathroom. The main bedroom was of course the largest

with the half hexagonal balcony opening out from it and the two windows

overlooking the rose garden, white marble fireplaces were in

every bedroom situated in the adjoining corners of each room.

The rest of the bedrooms varied in size and in the second

bedroom there seems to have been a partition put in at an early

date when the family increased in order to expand the sleeping

accommodation. It was probably not part of the original plan

and it was later removed. There may have been in the original

plan six bedrooms, not counting the division of the second

bedroom, one of which seems to have later been converted into a

large bathroom. The bathroom in Thomas Wragge's time was

overlooking the main drive. It might seem unusual to have such a

room directly over the main doorway but it must be remembered

that there was no plumbing, so no exposed pipes, no bath tub as

known today and the family used a hip—bath which was taken to each

individual when required and filled with warm water brought up

from the kitchen. The bathroom was really a small room where water

was probably kept in large jugs, with a basin supplied for washing

the face and hands; a pleasant little room overlooking the garden

and driveway.


The only other room on this floor other than bedrooms was

the billiard room. A large room primarily for men, this was the

only family room with no fireplace and no form of heating which

was considered unnecessary possibly because of the movement and

activity of the players. One window allowed the light in on the

full sized billiard table which dominated the room.


There was naturally no gas or electricity and most of the

lighting in the house was by means of lamps filled with kerosene

which either hung from moulded plaster rosettes decorating the

ceilings or were carried by hand to the various rooms. The parlour

maid would refill them during the day if necessary so that the lamps

could burn continuously throughout the evening.

Generally the house was a family home with large rooms,

generous use of space, thick wall papered walls and high skirting

board, panelled doors with porcelain knobs and door protectors,

marble fireplaces and rooms filled with English eighteenth

century furniture; a farm and yet an estate.


Thomas Wragge died at "Yallambie" in 1910, aged 79, and on

his death and that of his wife Sarah in 1915, it was decided that

"Yallambie" would be divided. The land was cut into three lots;

two of the pieces of land were of equal acreage — one was sold as

a smaller farm, the other was bought by the Department of the Army

and became the Watsonia Army Camp. The last portion of land went

to Sarah Annie Murdoch, a daughter of Thomas and Sarah Wragge.

The land bequeathed to her was considerably smaller than the portion

left to her brothers but she retained the homestead. In 1915

"Yallambie" stood on just over one hundred acres of farmland, with

the house still very similar to when it was completed for Thomas-

Wragge.

.—**0**—.

CHAPTER IV

Around 1911 a new style from California, the bungalow,

made a great impact in Australia. In the 1920's variations

began to creep in but were unsuitable for two-storied houses.

Large and two-storied houses derived their style from England

and the work of C. F. A. Voysey1.


Voysey was the most important English architect and

designer of that generation after William Morris. In the

eighties he designed wall papers and textiles but from 1889

onwards he designed houses and within ten years he had establi-

shed himself as a favourite architect of country houses, informal

comfortable homes. Voysey specialised in country houses such as

Broadley's on Lake Windermere which was remarkable for its plain

bay windows with unmoulded mullions. He stood for reason, domestic

comfort and an interior design which was picturesquely pleasant.2


In the 1890's Horbury Hunt had hinted at the style which

would be popular in Australia when he built two timber framed

homes north of Sydney. He had used steep gabled roofs, the walls

were entirely sheeted with wooden shingles and deep recessed

verandahs supported on thick square and plain timber posts. Hunt's

houses, built for moneyed merchants, set a new style for the whole

of that social class, a style which reached fruition around the

time of the First World War. It was essentially a romantic style

1. "Architecture in Australia" - J. M. Freeland - F. W. Cheshire,

    Melbourne - Chapter II "Transition" 1917-1929 pg.232

    Charles F. Annesley Voysey 1857-1941.

2. Sources of Modern Architecture & Design - Nicholas Pevsner -

   Thomas & Hudson - pg.118.

that took to lead lighted windows, weather—vanes and clay shingle

roofs. The black and white of the outside was repeated inside

with oak stained plywood panelling topped by plate shelves at

doorhead height and smooth white dados and ceilings.


In the spacious grounds in the better class suburbs the

picturesque style, as it was known, was highly fashionable and

in 1923 the fashion came to "Yallambie". A new house was not

built in the style of the new fashion but the old house was to

be altered significantly to change its whole character and give

it an entirely new appearance.


Fashion would probably not have been the entire reason for

change. Social attitudes had changed since the death of Thomas

Wragge. It became increasingly difficult to staff a large house,

people were not interested in entering into house service, men

had gone to war and returned with the hope for a better future

and a dissatisfaction with their previous lot in life. Wages

and costs were high so that it became impractical to have large

staff of servants even if it could be obtained. The family had

decreased in size since the land had been divided and the brothers

had sold their share and moved elsewhere. A married couple became

sufficient to care for the garden and household duties.


In the 1920's “Yallambie" was no longer as isolated as it

had been years before. Heidelberg had grown considerably and there

was ribbon development along the railway line; private transport

had developed to give personal freedom and comfort unknown before.

People could visit for the day or weekend and return to their own

homes quickly and easily. A tennis court was built in the garden

where guests could play the whole afternoon in pleasant surroundings,

yet relatively close to the encroaching facilities of urban develop—

ment.

The old wooden structures of the servants' quarters were

demolished and a square self—contained building was added to

the western side of the house to accommodate the remaining staff.

Of all the additions to the house, this building is the one which

blends best with the original design and only a slight difference

in window structure betrays it as belonging to a different period1.


An architect, a friend of the family, had been engaged to

alter "Yallambie" and perhaps he had been influenced by the work

of Horbury Hunt. Large verandahs became a necessity, not wrought

iron ones as already existed on the western and eastern walls but

large heavy monumental constructions. Along the plain southern

wall a verandah was added with spaced wooden slats supported on

wooden posts which, in turn, carried the balcony made of stained

wooden shingles2. Another similar verandah was added to the

entrance of the house. A door on the top floor was created to

give access to the balcony3. Over the door leading to the balcony

and the one exiting on to the original hexagonal balcony were

placed carved wooden canopies, perhaps to protect the doors from

the elements4.

1. Photograph illustration ( ) — This shows the relation of the new

   servants quarters with its slate roof facing towards the front of

   the house. This photograph shows the back complex with the laundry

   with a new corrugated iron roof and the sloping roof of the kitchen

   and back verandah — See also plan of house — Illustration ( ).

2. Photograph illustrations ( ) ( ) — Show the verandah extending

   over the whole of the southern wall and also along the wall where

   previously the wrought iron verandah stood.

   Illustration ( ) — a close up of the verandah motif.

3. Illustrations ( ) ( )

4. Photograph illustrations ( ) ( ) — In these two illustrations

   some of the original windows can still be seen.

The original small curved windows1 of the western ground

floor were removed and large bay windows jutting out on to the

verandah were created. A large bay window was also placed next

to the main front door. The original fanlight window over the

front door was removed and leadlight window panels replaced it.

The other bay window was constructed on the northern wall looking

out towards the dairy where previously there had been no window

at all.


The interior of the house was also submitted to changes,

some structural and some superficia12. The drawing room and

smoking room had the dividing wall removed to make a large room

with two bay windows overlooking the tennis court and rose garden.

A door opened out onto the verandah on the extreme eastern wall.

The two white marble fireplaces were removed and in their stead

was placed a varved wooden one which had to serve the now much

enlarged room. The dining—room became the billiard room where,

except for the bay window, the room remained very similar retaining

its black marble fireplace. The study next door also remained the

same but the fireplace was painted over to simulate wood. A bath—

room was incorporated next to the study possibly to service the

tennis court, since a door opened out on to the verandah, and

obviate having to go upstairs for this facility. The sewing room

and the room which function is unknown were joined to create the

dining—room. The backstairs were removed to make a storeroom which

gave easy access from the kitchen to the dining—room without the

necessity for servants and trolleys.


The elegant winding stairway was taken down and stared under

the roof space and a heavily carved staircase which rose straight

to the first floor with no landing took its place.

1. See photograph illustration ( )

2. illustrations ( ) ( ) showing the interior plan of the ground
                         and first floor after 1923.

Upstairs the five bedrooms remained the same except that

the first and second bedrooms had doorways created to open out

onto the verandah but structurally they were unaltered.


The bathroom was removed so that a door could open out

over the front door and a new larger modern bathroom was placed

on the opposite side of the house.


The large upstairs billiard room was divided into a sixth

bedroom and a store. The store had one wall lined with shelves

end the other with a rack for hanging space; a small window had

to be made to admit li t into this store room. The linen room

where the back stairs had originally, been was situated next to

the store room; both rooms giving ample storage space.


With the changes complete the family took up normal residence

again. Here they remained until the late 1950's when it was

decided that a hundred acre property ten miles from Melbourne

could no longer exist on a profitable financial basis. Taxes

and land rates soared and maintenance of such a large house

became costly. Urban development was demanding land and eventually

the house and land were sold to A. V. Jennings. The land was

subdivided and the house remained on two and a half acres of land

surrounded by houses on all sides except that which overlooked the

river. After several years with only a caretaker occupying the

house it was sold by A. V. Jennings to a large family who still

lives there today.


The whole Heidelberg area has grown from an entirely rural

area with grand estates dotted within its boundaries to a popular

area for suburban development. Old estates have eventually been

1. Photocopy ( )

sold and subdivided, commercial industries have established

themselves. The railway has been extended and people have

moved from the inner city areas to the quieter, greener

Heidelberg. Of course this is not an isolated case; it has

occurred throughout the metropolitan area, the older more

industrialised areas being drained of their younger population

who favour the growing spacious outer suburbs. Estates, such

as "Yallambie", which began as anonymous numbered portions,

whose owners gave them names, the choice of which in most cases

will remain unknown, developed, were built on and cultivated

but eventually had to be subdivided to make way for the

increasing demand for small plots. Such estates have given

their names to the creation of a new type of estate: the

housing estate.


"Yallambie": nine hundred and seventy acres, once known

as Portion 8 purchased in 1838 saw several changes of ownership

until it was bought by Thomas Wragge who held it until his

death and whose family retained it as long as economically possible.

The homestead now nestles amongst its hundred year old trees with

a popular building estate growing up around it.
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